FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/7/2019 3:25 PM

No. 97170-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 77303-8

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

FEENIX PARKSIDE LLC,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

BERKLEY NORTH PACIFIC and CONTINENTAL WESTERN INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey S. Tindal, WSBA #29286 Betts Patterson & Mines One Convention Place, Suite 1400 701 Pike Street Seattle WA 98101-3927

Telephone: (206) 292-9988 Facsimile: (206) 343-7053 Attorney for Respondents

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Berkley North Pacific ("BNP") and Continental Western Insurance

Company ("CWIC") ask this Court to accept review of the Court of

Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

BNP and CWIC seek review of the published decision terminating review in *Feenix Parkside LLC v. Berkley North Pacific and Continental Western Ins. Co.*, No. 77303-8-I, issued by Division I of the Court of Appeals on April 8, 2019 (the "Decision"). A copy of the Decision is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This appeal arises out of BNP's denial of insurance coverage following the collapse of a part of a building owned by Feenix Parkside LLC ("Feenix"). The issue presented for review is whether the term "decay" can reasonably mean "a gradual decline in strength, soundness, or prosperity or in degree of excellence or performance" when that definition violates several of Washington's well-established rules of insurance policy construction and interpretation.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Collapse of Feenix's Building and BNP's Initial Claim Investigation

Feenix owns a commercial building located in Auburn,
Washington (the "Building"). Decision at 1. On July 4, 2015, a portion of
the Building's roof truss system failed resulting in the collapse of that
portion of the roof. *Id.* Feenix submitted a claim to BNP. *Id.*

BNP's structural engineering consultant inspected the Building on four occasions in July of 2015. Decision at 2. Based on his inspections and research, BNP's engineer performed a structural analysis of the roof truss system. *Id.* The engineer opined that the roof trusses failed as a result of two concurrent factors: (1) the configuration of the truss plate connection adjacent to the rear exterior bearing wall had inadequate strength to resist the applied loads (inadequate design issue), and (2) higher than normal temperatures which reduced the strength of the wood trusses by up to 30%. *Id.*.

B. The Insurance Policy and BNP's Initial Claim Decision

The CWIC property insurance policy BNP issued to Feenix (the "Policy") provides all-risk property coverage. Decision at 6. In the main, all-risk portion of the Policy, there are specific exclusions to coverage for damage caused by the following items: (1) wet or dry rot, (2) wear and tear, (3) decay, (4) deterioration, (5) any quality in property that causes it

to damage or destroy itself, (6) changes in or extremes of temperature, (7) continuous or repeated seepage or leakage of water, or the presence or condensation of humidity, moisture or vapor, that occurs over a period of 14 days or more, (8) collapse, and (9) inadequate design of part or all of any property on or off the described premises. *Id.*; see also CP 292-94.

Despite excluding coverage for the peril of collapse under the main, all-risk portion of the Policy, there is a separate section which adds limited coverage back for collapse. Decision at 7. This limited coverage is not an all-risk coverage in which all risks are covered unless excluded; rather, it is a specified peril coverage, meaning it only applies if one of the specified perils causes the collapse. *Id.* Specifically, the Policy's collapse coverage only applies when the direct physical damage caused by collapse is caused by "one or more" of the following enumerated perils: (1) the "specified causes of loss" or breakage of building glass; (2) decay that is hidden from view, unless the presence of decay is known to an insured prior to collapse; (3) insect or vermin damage that is hidden from view,

-

¹ "Specified Causes of Loss" means: Fire; lightning; explosion; windstorm or hail; smoke; aircraft or vehicles; riot or civil commotion; vandalism; leakage from fire extinguishing equipment; sinkhole collapse; volcanic action; falling objects; weight of snow, ice or sleet; water damage. Decision at 8. "Water damage" is defined in the Policy as the "accidental discharge or leakage of water or steam as the direct result of the breaking apart or cracking of a plumbing, heating, air conditioning or other system or appliance (other than a sump system including its related equipment and parts), that is located on the described premises and contains water or steam." *Id*.

unless the presence of such damage is known to an insured prior to collapse; (4) weight of people or personal property; (5) weight of rain that collects on a roof; (6) use of defective material or methods in construction, remodeling or renovation if the collapse occurs during the course of the construction, remodeling or renovation.² Decision at 7-8.

Based on its retained engineer's opinions, BNP denied coverage on August 19, 2015, for the collapse at the Building because it was caused by excessive temperatures in the attic space and the inadequate design of the truss connection, neither of which is a specified peril in the Policy's collapse coverage under the facts surrounding this claim. Decision at 2

C. Feenix's Dispute of Claim Denial and BNP's Subsequent Investigation and Final Claim Decision

On June 22, 2016, Feenix disputed the basis for BNP's denial via a written letter, which enclosed a report from Feenix's engineer. Decision at 2. According to Feenix's engineer, the collapse was caused by the combined effects of elevated temperatures in the attic from the hot weather just prior to and at the time of the collapse and elevated moisture content (in excess of 19%) of the wood trusses resulting from long term water leaks which delivered moisture to the ends of the trusses. Decision

² If the collapse occurs after the course of construction, remodeling or renovation, then "defective material or methods in construction, remodeling or renovation" is a covered cause of collapse only if it combines with one of the other enumerated perils in causing the collapse. Decision at 7-8.

at 3. In its letter and based on its engineer's opinions, Feenix took the position that hidden decay caused by moisture seeping or leaking into the truss system caused the collapse and was covered by the Policy. *Id*.

Based on Feenix's letter and engineering report, BNP reopened its claim investigation and on July 13, 2016, its engineer re-examined the failed wood trusses. *Id.* During the inspection, the engineer did not observe any visible discoloration or wood decay on the failure surfaces of the trusses. *Id.* The engineer did note some iron staining on the wood surrounding nail penetrations in some truss members, but noted that this does not reduce the strength of the affected wood. *Id.* Based on its engineer's observations, BNP did not change its initial coverage denial and informed Feenix of its decision via a letter dated August 23, 2016. *Id.*

D. The Filing of the Lawsuit, Discovery, Motions for Summary Judgment and the Appeal

Feenix filed a lawsuit against BNP and CWIC on September 23, 2016. Decision at 4. During litigation, BNP took the deposition of Feenix's engineer. Decision at 14. Division I indicated that the engineer testified about the lack of decay on the trusses, meaning wet rot. *Id.* This is not entirely correct. In fact, during the deposition, Feenix's own engineer testified that he did not observe any "mold, wood decay or other decay" on the trusses which collapsed. CP 242.

Following the completion of discovery, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment regarding coverage under the Policy, *i.e.*, Feenix's breach of contract claim. Decision at 4. On August 4, 2017, the trial court granted BNP's motion and denied Feenix's motion. *Id.* On September 17, 2017, the trial court entered an amended order on the parties' cross-motions which contained all of the documents considered by the trial court, some of which had not been included in the initial order. *Id.* The amended order did not alter the trial court's substantive decision. *Id.*

Feenix subsequently appealed. On appeal, Division I reversed the trial court's orders on summary judgment; applied an expansive definition of the word "decay"; and found an issue of fact as to the causes of the collapse. Decision at 15-16.

Now, BNP and CWIC petition this Court for review of Division I's decision.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. This Petition Should be Granted Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) Because it Involves an Issue of Significant Public Interest

The Decision is of general public interest or importance. As the Court is aware, RCW 48.01.030 states that "[t]he business of insurance is one affected by the public interest, requiring that all persons be actuated

by good faith, abstain from deception, and practice honesty and equity in all insurance matters. Upon the insurer, the insured, their providers, and their representatives rests the duty of preserving inviolate the integrity of insurance." In addition, the Decision will give guidance to insureds and insurers alike regarding property claims involving collapse and decay, two issues which are prevalent in the Pacific Northwest, mostly in the context of water intrusion insurance claims. By defining decay as a "gradual loss of strength" in the abstract, the Decision opens the door to coverage for collapse damage that results from perils not enumerated in the named peril collapse coverage, or even collapse damage that results from unambiguously excluded perils.

In addition, the Decision is of particular importance to property insurers doing business in Washington in determining how to properly calculate premium on such policies. As written, the Decision may require property insurers to extend collapse coverage for damage caused by perils not enumerated in the named peril collapse coverage provision. This Court's review of the Decision will provide clarity to insurers on the meaning of the term "decay" in a property policy, thereby allowing them to determine the appropriate premium based on the covered causes of collapse enumerated in their policies – and not under the nebulous definition of "decay" adopted in Division I's decision.

B. This Petition Should be Granted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)
Because the Decision is in Conflict with Decisions of the
Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals

As discussed herein, the Decision violates several of Washington's well-established rules of insurance policy construction and interpretation previously enunciated in prior decisions of this Court and the Washington Court of Appeals.

1. The Court of Appeals Erred When it Determined Feenix's Definition of Decay was Reasonable Because that Definition is a Strained Interpretation Which does not Apply in the Context Used

In the Decision, Division I adopted an alternative definition of decay: "a gradual decline in strength, soundness, or prosperity or in degree of excellence or performance," a definition taken from Webster's Dictionary. Decision at 9-10, 15. The Decision relies on Feenix's theory that repeated leakage or seepage of water into the wooden truss system caused a decline in the strength of the wood and that such moisture, in combination with excessive temperatures, caused the wood trusses to no longer be able to bear their load. Decision at 2-3. The Decision essentially labels this confluence of conditions neatly as "decay" so as to trigger coverage for collapse.

However, this definition does not apply in the context it is used in the Policy, as it must under well-established canons of insurance policy interpretation. *Queen*) *Anne Park Homeowners Ass'n v. State Farm Fire* and Cas. Co., 183 Wn.2d 485, 489, 352 P.3d 790 (2015. Division I's definition of "decay" is not applicable when describing the gradual loss of strength of a wooden roof truss because a wooden roof truss cannot have a gradual decline in "prosperity" or "degree of excellence or performance," as the entirety of the definition demands. As such, the definition is a strained or forced interpretation that leads to an absurd conclusion. See, e.g., Washington Pub. Util. Dists. Utils. Sys. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Clallam County, 112 Wn.2d 1, 11, 771 P.2d 701 (1989).

Rather, the definition adopted by Division I is appropriately used outside the realm of property damage insurance, to describe such things as "the decay of society" or "the decay of the public school system." It is not intended to describe the decay of a wood truss system or similar structural members of a building, resulting in the collapse of a roof or other parts of the building.

2. The Court of Appeals Erred When it Determined Feenix's Definition of Decay was Reasonable Because that Definition Inappropriately Recharacterizes the Perils of "Extremes of Temperature," and "Continuous or Repeated Seepage of Water" Which are not Covered Causes of Collapse, as "Decay"

Division I adopted its definition of decay based on Feenix's engineer's opinion that the collapse was caused by the combined effects of extreme temperatures in the attic space and excessive moisture in the

trusses resulting from long term seepage or leakage of water. Decision at 12. Division I failed to recognize that extremes of temperatures and repeated seepage or leakage of water are (1) excluded under the Policy's all-risk coverage and (2) not listed as covered causes of collapse in the Policy's Additional Coverage - Collapse. Instead, Division I allowed Feenix to impermissibly recharacterize those excluded perils as "decay," meaning a generic "loss of strength," thereby avoiding applicable exclusions and triggering the limited collapse coverage.

The Decision therefore violates another basic principle of Washington insurance law: an insured may not avoid a contractual exclusion or other provision merely by affixing an additional label or separate characterization to the act or event causing the loss. *Kish v. Insurance Co. of North America*, 125 Wn.2d 164, 883 P.2d 308 (1994). In that case, an insured attempted to avoid a contractual exclusion for flood by characterizing the cause of its loss as rain, when rain-induced flooding caused property damage. *Id.*, at 167-68. On appeal, this Court held that an insured may not simply recharacterize an excluded cause of loss in order to avoid a policy exclusion. *Id.*, at 171. Thus, the insured in *Kish* could not avoid the flood exclusion by characterizing the cause of the loss as rain when those two terms meant the same thing in that particular context. *Id.*, at 173.

Here, in contravention of the holding in *Kish*, the Decision improperly recharacterizes the perils of extremes in heat (in the attic space) and excessive moisture content in the trusses by way of repeated seepage or leakage of water as "decay" because "decay" is one of the covered causes of collapse and these perils which caused the collapse are not. Because "decay," as defined by Division I, means the same thing as the combination of excessive heat and repeated seepage or leakage of water in the context of Feenix's insurance claim, this Court cannot simply allow the renaming of those perils in order to trigger coverage, as this Court refused to do in *Kish*.

Moreover, this is particularly true because the Policy contains specific policy references to extremes in temperature and repeated seepage or leakage of water. In fact, these two perils are specifically excluded in the Policy under the all-risk coverage. CP 293 (Exclusion 2.d.(7)(b) and Exclusion 2.f.). Because BNP specifically identified and excluded those perils in the main portion of the Policy, and chose not to include them in the list of covered causes of collapse, BNP clearly intended to bar coverage for any collapse caused by those perils – and a reasonable reader of the Policy would understand the collapse coverage does not nullify the exclusion of those perils from coverage. In this instance, Division I's recharacterization of these non-covered perils as "decay" is not permitted

under the *Kish* holding. Moreover, the various provisions of the Policy "must be construed together in order to give force and effect to each clause." *Washington Pub. Util. Dists. Utils. Sys.*, 112 Wn.2d at 10. As such, decay cannot mean the same thing as extremes in temperature and repeated seepage or leakage of water as they do in the context of the insurance policy, which expressly bars coverage for damage that results from such perils.

3. The Court of Appeals Erred When it Determined Feenix's Definition of Decay was Reasonable Because that Definition Ignores the Policy's Definition of "Water Damage," Thereby Impermissibly Expanding Collapse Coverage to Include Uncovered "Water Damage"

The definition of decay adopted by Division I is also unreasonable because it failed to give full force and effect to the defined term "water damage," which is one of the named covered perils in the Policy's collapse coverage. In doing so, the definition adopted by Division I inappropriately expands the scope of collapse coverage caused by "water damage," which renders the limited definition in the Policy meaningless.

As stated above, collapse coverage in the Policy extends only to specific named perils. The first named peril in the Policy's collapse coverage is identified as the "specified causes of loss." Decision at 7. The definition of "specified causes of loss" includes the peril of "water damage," which is defined in the Policy as the "accidental discharge or

leakage of water or steam as the direct result of the breaking apart or cracking of a plumbing, heating, air conditioning or other system or appliance (other than a sump system including its related equipment and parts), that is located on the described premises and contains water or steam." Decision at 8. Because the Policy's collapse coverage is a named-peril coverage, the only covered causes are specifically listed therein. Thus, the only kind of "water damage" which is covered in the collapse coverage is water damage resulting from the breaking apart or cracking of a plumbing, heating, air conditioning or other system or appliance. Given this definition in the Policy, water damage of any other kind should not trigger collapse coverage under the express terms of the coverage.

However, the definition of decay adopted by Division I, under the particular facts of this claim, impermissibly expands the definition of covered "water damage" to include not only water damage from failed plumbing, heating, air conditioning systems, but also water damage resulting from rainwater or any other source of moisture intrusion. As a result, Division I's definition, when read in conjunction with the Policy's collapse coverage, is unreasonable because it renders the definition of "water damage" ineffective and impermissibly expands the scope of

collapse coverage to include water damage not contemplated by the Policy.

BNP and CWIC note that Feenix argued on appeal that the "water intrusion through the Parkside roof system and the elevated moisture which resulted from it being trapped in the roof system over time reduced the strength of the wood trusses, which led to the collapse of the roof system." Decision at 16. There, Feenix asserted that the term "system" in the Policy is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, arguing that the definition of "system" can also apply to the "roof system" of the building. *Id*.

Applying the doctrine of ejusdem generis, Division I correctly determined that the roof system was not of the same general class as the specific systems cited in the Policy. Decision at 17. That is, a roof system is not the equivalent of a plumbing, heating, or air conditioning system, because those systems are all designed to use water or steam in their operation, while a roof system serves to exclude water. *Id.* Thus, Division I correctly rejected Feenix's argument in this regard.

Despite correctly rejecting this argument, Division I undermined its own ruling by adopting a decay definition that encompasses any collapse resulting from a "gradual loss of strength," which impermissibly allows coverage for collapse caused by water damage well beyond the

limited definition of "water damage" contained in the Policy. With respect to its ruling that a roof system was not the same type of system contained in the definition of "water damage," Division I understood that proper policy interpretation cannot expand coverage by applying a definition that makes no sense viewed in the context of the overall structure and purposes of the Policy. However, Division I erred in failing to use the same common sense reading of the Policy as a whole, taking into account all of the applicable exclusions and the inherently limited "named peril" collapse coverage, when it adopted its definition of "decay."

4. The Court of Appeals Erred When it Determined Feenix's Definition of Decay was Reasonable Because that Definition is Overbroad Given that any Collapse of a Building Necessarily Involves a "Loss of Strength"

Division I's definition of "decay" is also unreasonable because it is overly broad, rendering the limitations of the Policy's collapse coverage nonsensical or ineffective, in contravention of this Court's well-established rules of policy interpretation. *Washington Pub. Util. Dists. Utils. Sys.*, 112 Wn.2d at 11.

By defining decay as it did, Division I adopted Feenix's circular reasoning. That is, when a wooden building collapses, it necessarily involves a loss of strength of its structural members; and any building

collapse would be covered regardless of the actual cause, whether that be extreme temperatures, repeated exposure to rain water, flood, hidden or latent defect or any quality in property which causes it to damage or destroy itself, earth movement, wear and tear, deterioration, an insured's failure to maintain a building in normal condition, weather conditions, etc., because all of these otherwise excluded perils can cause a "gradual loss of strength" in wood. Simply put, Division I's definition "decay" is unreasonable because it nullifies numerous unambiguous Policy exclusions and expands the scope of coverage to perils not otherwise identified as covered perils in the limited collapse coverage portion of the Policy.

A simple example illustrates the unreasonableness of the definition of "decay" that Division I has adopted. Under that definition, getting a flat tire after running over a small nail would be "decay" because the tire has gradually declined in "strength or soundness." Similarly, "collapse" would always involve "decay" of this type because with any collapse there is must have been a "loss of strength or soundness" in the structural members supporting a roof assembly or other portions of a building. The relevant question under the Policy is not whether there was a "loss of strength" – every collapse is generally the result of "a loss of strength." Under the limited, named peril collapse coverage afforded under the

Policy (and other similar property damage policies), the relevant inquiry is whether the *cause* of a loss of strength that results in the collapse of a building is a *covered peril*.

Unfortunately, as Division I has defined the term "decay," the distinction between a building collapse that results from a covered "named peril" and one that results from perils that are not "named perils" is written out of the Policy. So is the distinction between a building collapse that results from a specifically excluded peril – which can be covered so long as it is the result of a generic "loss of strength" of the building's supporting structure. As a result, Division I's definition of decay is unreasonable because it is overly broad, rendering the limitations of Collapse Coverage ineffective and because a reasonable purchaser of insurance would not view the clear language in the collapse coverage otherwise. Washington Pub. Util. Dists. Utils. Sys., 112 Wn.2d at 11; Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co., 174 Wn.2d 501, 512, 276 P.3d 300 (2012).

In summary, Division I has adopted a definition of "decay" that does violence to the plain meaning of the Policy, obliterating clear exclusions and expanding the limited collapse coverage beyond the specific named perils for which coverage is afforded. This Court should accept review to correct Division I's error – which if allowed to stand will

affect numerous collapse claims in the state of Washington and likely will result in increased premiums for such coverage in the future.

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should accept review for the reasons indicated in Part V. and affirm the trial court's summary judgment order dismissing the case.