FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/6/2019 2:15 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97170-6

(Court of Appeals No. 77303-8-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FEENIX PARKSIDE LLC,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

BERKLEY NORTH PACIFIC and CONTINENTAL WESTERN INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants/Respondents.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT FEENIX PARKSIDE LLC'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DEFENDANTS/RESPONDENTS BERKLEY NORTH PACIFIC AND CONTINENTAL WESTERN INSURANCE COMPANY

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff/Appellant Feenix Parkside LLC ("Feenix") submits this Answer to the Petition for Review of Defendants/Respondents Berkley North Pacific and Continental Western Insurance Company (collectively, "Berkley") pursuant to RAP 13.4(d). This Court should deny Berkley's Petition for Review of the Court of Appeals' decision in Feenix Parkside LLC v. Berkley North Pacific, et al., No. 77303-8-I, __Wn. App. 3d __, 438 P.3d 597 (Wash. Ct. App. 2019) (the "Decision"). Berkley fails to satisfy its burden under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to show that its Petition involves an issue of substantial public importance that should be determined by the Supreme Court, or that the Decision conflicts with either a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). In fact, the Decision correctly interprets and applies established Washington law on insurance policy construction and does so in a manner that aligns fully with courts in other jurisdictions considering the identical issue presented here. Accordingly, further review by this Court is unwarranted.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Court of Appeals correctly held that the undefined term "decay" in Berkley's insurance policy can reasonably be interpreted to mean "a gradual decline in strength, soundness, or prosperity or in degree of excellence or performance" consistent with common dictionary definitions and as the average purchaser of insurance would understand it.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Feenix adopts the Decision's "Facts" and "The Policy" sections as its Statement of the Case.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Petition Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Importance That the Supreme Court Should Decide Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Berkley asks this Court to accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), arguing that the Decision is of general interest or importance. (Petition at 6–7). Berkley's argument is unconvincing. The standard established by RAP 13.4(b)(4) requires *substantial* public importance, not general interest. Berkley argues further that the Decision is particularly important to property insurers writing policies in Washington who may need to set premiums differently for collapse risks in commercial policies in light of the dictionary-based definition of "decay" endorsed by the Court of Appeals. Ironically, Berkley characterizes the Court of Appeals' definition as "nebulous" without acknowledging that this case arose precisely because of the ambiguity latent in the term "decay," language Berkley chose to include in the policy without definition.

Indeed, the clarity Berkley now seeks from this Court could have been provided by Berkley itself if it desired a special definition other than the reasonable, common-sense, dictionary-based definition adopted by the Court of Appeals. As noted in the Decision: "[B]ecause Berkley did not define 'decay' in the policy, the term must be interpreted in a way the average purchaser of insurance would understand it, and any ambiguity is construed against the insurer and in favor of the insured....The broader definition of 'decay,' a gradual decline in strength or soundness, is the more reasonable manner to construe the term." Decision at 14, 438 P.3d at 605 (citing *Vision One, LLC v. Phila. Indem. Ins. Co.*, 174 Wn.2d 501, 512, 276 P.3d 300 (2012)). The consequences of Berkley's policy drafting choices do not transform this case into a matter of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Decision is Not in Conflict With Decisions of this Court or Published Decisions of the Court of Appeals Within the Meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

Berkley argues that the Petition should be granted because the Decision conflicts with a decision of this Court and a published decision by the Court of Appeals pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), respectively. (Petition at 8–17). Berkley does not cite a single Court of Appeals decision, published or otherwise, that it contends is in conflict with the Decision. Accordingly, Berkley's reliance on RAP 13.4(b)(2) is misplaced.

For the reasons that follow, Berkley also is mistaken in arguing that the Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(1).

<u>First</u>, Berkley states that the *Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary* definition of "decay" adopted by the Court of Appeals ("a gradual decline in strength, soundness, or prosperity or in degree of excellence or performance") does not apply to a loss of strength in wooden roof trusses. According to Berkley, applying that definition leads to a strained or forced interpretation contrary to policy interpretation principles established by decisions of this Court. (Petition at 8–9). Without explanation or authority, Berkley asserts that the Webster's Dictionary

- 4 -

definition of "decay" approved by the Court of Appeals actually should be limited to contexts such as societal decay or other contexts outside the realm of property damage insurance. (Petition at 9). Despite Berkley's views, Webster's Dictionary recognizes no such contextual limitations on the definition of "decay."

Moreover, the definition adopted by the Court of Appeals aligns closely with broad definitions of "decay" approved by courts in other jurisdictions. Decision at 10-12 (discussing *Joy Tabernacle-The New Testament Church v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 616 Fed. Appx. 802, 808 (6th Cir. 2015) (decay encompasses both organic rot and general decline or degeneration over time); *Stamm Theaters, Inc. v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co.*, 93 Cal. App. 4th 531, 537–38, 542–43, 113 Cal Rptr. 2d 300 (2001) (adopting a definition of "decay" that includes "the gradual loss of strength"); and *Easthampton Cong. Church v. Church Mut. Ins. Co.*, 322 F. Supp. 3d 230 (D. Mass. 2018) *aff* d, 916 F.3d 86 (1st Cir. 2019). Notably, the *Easthampton* court held:

The most reasonable reading of the word 'decay' as it is used in the Policy is that it refers to the broader concept of the word. This is because the Policy elsewhere uses the term 'rot' in an exclusion for 'Fungus, Wet Rot, Dry Rot and Bacteria.' If Church Mutual wanted to limit coverage for collapse to collapse caused or contributed to by 'rot' as opposed to 'decay,' it could have done so. It did not, and the only reasonable implication is that the plain and ordinary meaning of 'decay' as used in the Policy encompasses decay in the broader sense of a gradual deterioration or decline in strength or soundness."

Decision at 11–12 (citing *Easthampton*, 322 F. Supp. 3d at 237). As the Court of Appeals noted, the policy issued by Berkley "is nearly identical to the policy in *Easthampton*." Decision at 12.

Second, Berkley argues that the Court of Appeals' definition of "decay" essentially allows Feenix to avoid contractual exclusions by affixing a label or different characterization on the cause of loss. In particular, Berkley complains that by attributing the collapse to "decay" instead of extreme temperatures and repeated seepage or leakage of water (both excluded causes), the Court of Appeals allowed Feenix to circumvent the intent of the policy and trigger the limited collapse coverage. (Petition at 9-12). Berkley contends this approach is contrary to Kish v. Insurance Co. of N. America, 125 Wn.2d 164, 883 P.2d 308 (1994), but Berkley is mistaken. Kish focused on the concept of "efficient proximate cause" which "permits coverage when an insured peril sets other excluded perils into motion which in an unbroken sequence and connection between the act and final loss, produce the result for which recovery is sought." Graham v. Public Employees Mut. Ins. Co., 98 Wn.2d 533, 538, 656 P.2d 1077 (1983). Berkley did not believe there was an "efficient proximate cause" issue because it relied on extreme temperature as the sole cause of collapse. The Court of Appeals, in utilizing well-established principles of contract interpretation, determined "decay" was ambiguous. The Court of Appeals correctly defined "decay" using its ordinary dictionary definition, which is how a reasonable insured would interpret an ambiguous term. Whether "decay" was the cause of loss or an excluded peril is an issue of fact which the Court of Appeals properly identified. Long-standing principles of policy interpretation required the Court of Appeals to strictly and narrowly construe exclusions and to resolve ambiguity in undefined terms in favor of the insured. These principles were recognized and applied by the Court of Appeals in adopting a broad definition of "decay" in favor of coverage. Decision at 12-14 (citing Campbell v. Ticor Title Ins. Co., 166 Wn.2d 466, 472, 209 P.2d 859 (2009) (policy exclusions are strictly and narrowly construed); W. Nat'l Assurance Co. v. Shelcon Constr. Grp., LLC, 182 Wn. App 256, 261, 332 P.3d 986 (2014) (insurance policies are liberally construed to provide coverage where possible); and Vision One, LLC v. Phila. Indem. Ins. Co., 174 Wn.2d 501, 512, 276 P.3d 300 (2012) (undefined policy terms are interpreted in a way the average purchaser of insurance would understand it, and any ambiguity is construed against the insurer and in favor of the insured)). Unlike *Kish*, this case does not present an issue of "efficient proximate cause" per se but rather the scope of coverage for collapse caused by "decay." Berkley's citation of *Kish* is an attempt to create an issue where there is none. Moreover, as the Court of Appeals noted in rejecting this argument, "if Berkley wanted to limit coverage for collapse to collapse caused or contributed to by 'rot,' as opposed to 'decay,' it could have done so. It did not." Decision at 12.

<u>Third</u>, Berkley argues that in adopting the dictionary-based definition of "decay," the Court of Appeals effectively expanded the scope of collapse coverage caused by "water damage." (Petition at 12–15). Berkley labors mightily to fit the defined term "water damage" into the Court of Appeals' analysis but does not clearly explain its relevance. Feenix's claim is simply that it is entitled to coverage for collapse caused by "decay." Berkley's definition of "water damage" and the scope of associated coverage has no bearing on the meaning of the term "decay," which Berkley chose to leave undefined. Conflating the terms serves no useful purpose and does not weigh in favor of this Court accepting review.

<u>Fourth</u>, Berkley's final argument in favor of review is that the Decision renders the policy's collapse coverage nonsensical or ineffective in contravention of the rule that all provisions of an insurance policy must be construed together in order to give force and effect to each. See Washington Pub. Utility Dists. Sys. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Clallam County, 112 Wn.2d 1, 11, 771 P.2d 701 (1989). (Petition at 15–18). In essence, Berkley argues that defining "decay" as a gradual loss or decline in strength or soundness is overly broad and renders certain policy exclusions meaningless because nearly any loss can be attributed to a decline in strength. (Petition at 15–18).

The specter of unlimited coverage raised by Berkley is unfounded. The coverage sought by Feenix, and the analysis of the Court of Appeals, speak only to coverage for collapse caused by "decay." No other policy terms are implicated by the Decision. Moreover, even "decay" could have been limited had Berkley defined the term. As the Court of Appeals correctly held:

We must strictly and narrowly construe exclusions, such as the exclusion for deterioration.... Insurance policies are liberally construed to provide coverage wherever possible.... And, because Berkley did not define 'decay' in the policy, the term must be interpreted in a way the average purchaser of insurance would understand it, and any ambiguity is construed against the insurer and in favor of the insured.... The broader definition of 'decay,' a gradual decline in strength or soundness, is the more reasonable manner to construe the term.

Decision at 13–14 (internal citations omitted).

V. CONCLUSION

The unanimous, published Decision of the Court of Appeals is well-grounded in established principles of insurance policy interpretation. The Decision does not present an issue of substantial public importance, nor does it contravene prior decisions of this Court or published decisions of the Court of Appeals. The Decision also aligns fully with decisions from other jurisdictions that have addressed the same issue raised here. For these reasons, Feenix submits that discretionary review is not warranted and Berkley's Petition should be denied.